11-311

OLA 6-2-98

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Case No. 9,595 L.T. Case No.: 96-02758 FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 1 1998

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT

Strief Beputy Clerk

On Discretionary Review Of The Decision Of The Second District Court Of Appeal

LAWRENCE D. McDOUGALD,

Petitioner,

٧

HENRY D. PERRY and C & S CHEMICALS,

INC., a foreign corporation, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Hank B. Campbell, Esq. (FBN 0434515) Christine C. Daly, Esq. (FBN 0998362) Lane, Trohn, Bertrand & Vreelmd, P.A. Post Office Box 3 Lakeland, Florida 33802-0003 (941) 284-2200 (941) 688-0310 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This "wayward wheel" case arises from a 130 pound spare tire that dislodged from a tractor-trailer while passing over railroad tracks. The spare tire, which was catapulted into the air, struck a vehicle that was being operated by Petitioner, Lawrence D. McDougald ("Mr. McDougald"), who was injured in his futile attempt to avoid the airborne tire's return to earth.

The Flying Spare Tire

The incident occurred on July 26, 1990. [T 170] On that date, Mr. McDougald injured his knee when the spare tire from a tractor-trailer, leased by Respondent C & S Chemicals, Inc. ("C & S") and operated by Respondent Henry D. Perry ("Mr. Perry"), struck Mr. McDougald's vehicle while travelling on Highway 60 West, in Bartow, Polk County, Florida. [T 170] The spare tire dislodged from the tractor-trailer as Mr. Perry drove over railroad tracks that crossed the highway. After dislodging, the spare tire passed underneath the wheels of the tractor-trailer, which hurled it into the air towards Mr. McDougald's windshield. [T 170-172]

In an effort to avoid the airborne tire, Mr. McDougald -- whose vehicle was behind and in the same lane as the tractor-trailer -- struggled to shield himself under his vehicle's dashboard. [T 171-172] The tire struck the front of Mr. McDougald's vehicle, causing him to lose control and spin into the median. [T 172-173]

An eye-witness stated that the "semi come over the railroad tracks and a spare tire bounced out from underneath it, and [Mr. McDougald's vehicle] swerved to miss it, but he couldn't miss it. He caught it anyhow, and it liked to have flipped him." [T 62] When Mr. McDougald's vehicle "hit the tire he almost flipped" and he "just started fishtailing and swerving and he was out of control then." [T 63] The eye-witness stated McDougald did nothing wrong:

"He was just trying to keep from hitting the tire. He swerved to miss it, but it bounced right in front of him." [T 62]

In attempting to avoid the tire, Mr. McDougald caught his foot somewhere on the vehicle's floorboard, injuring his right knee as a result. [T 171-172] He stated he "ducked" and "tried to get below" the dashboard, but that he felt the "collision" and a "snap" in his knee. [T 171-72] He stated that: "The snap twisted me, my right foot caught something, have no idea what. It happened so quick and such shock going through my mind, I thought I was dead." [T 172]

At the scene, the driver of the tractor-trailer -- who had the "chain in his hand" that was supposed to have restrained the spare tire -- spoke to Mr. McDougald, [T 174] According to Mr. McDougald, the driver said "when he hit -- hit the track and felt the tires -- felt the trailer come up, he thought that the tire had came out. He assumed what had happened. And he looked in his rearview mirror, seeing if it missed anybody, when he saw cars going in all directions he figured at that point that the tire had struck somebody." [T 174]

The Pre-Trip Inspection, The Twenty-Year Old 'Dog'-Type Chain, The Nut/Bolt And "Stretched" Link, And The Accident

Prior to leaving Waycross, Georgia, at 3:30 a.m. or 4:00 a.m. on the day of the incident, Mr. Perry performed a pre-trip inspection of the tractor-trailer. [T 253-254] With regard to the scope of his pre-trip inspection, Mr. Perry stated:

- Q. What do you do in a pre-trip inspection?
- A. I check my truck and make sure it's safe.
- Q. And how do you do that?
- A. Well, first thing you do is a walk around, you look at everything, check all your tires, make sure all the lights work, check your oils, waters, make sure there is nothing dragging, make sure everything is secure.

- O. And did you do that on that day?
- A. I certainly did.

[T 254] Mr. Perry stated that this included a cursory inspection of the spare tire [T 258-259]

The spare tire, which was on a metal rim, weighed approximately 130 pounds. It was carried in a 45-degree angled cradle located in a rack underneath the truck, and was held in place by its own weight. [T 369] A four to six foot link chain, which was wrapped around the tire once, purportedly served to secure the tire. [T 255, 257). Mr. Perry described the chain as "[an] inch, like a circle inch chain, like a dog chain you would tie your dog up with or kind of small, but they are made, you know, real, real sturdy." [T 257] He recalled looking at the spare tire and the chain on the day of the incident. [T 257-258] Mr. Perry did not physically inspect each link. [T 258-259] He stated:

- Q. Okay. And as to the spare tire, you look at that?
- A. Yes, I did.

. . .

- Q. Okay. So when you checked the chain back at the yard, did you check it, I mean, and look at every link and everything?
- A. No, sir, I did not.
- Q. You just go walk through and look at it?
- A. I did not check every link.

. . .

- Q. That day when you walked around, you don't check every link on the chain?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. You look and see if the chain is secured?
- A. Right.

[T 254-255, 258-259]

Mr. Perry described how the chain was supposed to be secured in place. A latch and bolt system was originally used to secure the chain to the spare tire and rack with a lock. [T 255-57]

The original latch, however, had apparently broken off at some point and was replaced with just a nut and bolt. [T 256-57] As a result, no lock was used to secure the chain. [T 257] Instead, on the day of the accident, the chain itself only had a half-inch bolt with a nut and washer through the end of it, [T 256-257] Mr. Perry admitted that a lock -- which was originally used -- "would help hold the chain, yes, but you don't have to do that, it's not a requirement." [T 257]

A post-accident examination of the chain revealed that the nut and bolt, which were still fastened together, had entirely slipped through a link in one end of the chain. [T 258, 272-273] According to Mr. Perry, one of the links had apparently "stretched out" and permitted the nut and bolt to slip through. Mr. Perry stated that the "link was stretched out, so evidently it stretched out enough that the bolt would go through there." [T 258] The other end of the chain, however, was still connected to the tractor-trailer and was dragging on the ground," [T 261, 273] He stated that he told people at the scene of the accident that the "chain had come loose." [T 271]

Mr. Perry described the railroad tracks that he crossed as "real rough." [T 275-276] The speed limit was 55 miles per hour, but he had to reduce the speed of the tractor-trailer to about 35-40 miles per hour when crossing or else he would "hit the ceiling," [T 275-276] He was aware of the rough crossing because it was on his usual route and he had crossed it about five times a week for the last year. [T 275] The spare tire was located in the undercarriage of the

¹ Mr. **McDougald** did not have the benefit of repair and/or maintenance records with respect to the tractor-trailer or the chain and was unable to perform any testing on the chain following the incident. The corporate representative of C & S surmised at trial that the chain was still located on the tractor-trailer at issue. Mr. Perry and C & S, however, denied the existence or availability of the chain, as well as the maintenance records, during pre-trial discovery. [T 364-365; 369-373]

trailer, which Mr. Perry stated would move around a lot when driving over bumps. [T 274-275] Although Mr. Perry could not recall exactly when the link in the chain became "stretched," he recognized that the jostling of the trailer could cause stress on the chain. [T 259-260; 274-275] The chain itself appeared to be the original chain that came with the tractor-trailer in 1969. [T 258]

Roy Beverly, the Operations Manager for C & S, described the incident as "unbelievable," and further stated that -- prior to the incident in question -- he had never even heard of a spare tire coming out of its rack. [T 368-369] Mr. Beverly explained that "it's very difficult to pull the tire in and out of the rack" manually, presumably because of the tire's weight, [T 369]

Mr. McDougald's Injuries and Damages

Mr. McDougald experienced a burning sensation in his knee moments after the incident and later that night. [T 175-176] As a result, he sought medical treatment immediately the next morning. [T 176] The physician who examined Mr. McDougald surmised that he sustained some type of sprain as a result of the incident. [T 176]

When the burning pain continued, Mr. McDougald sought treatment from an orthopedic surgeon, who prescribed physical therapy for Mr. McDougald's knee and later performed arthroscopic surgery. [T 300] The medical testimony indicated that the "tear in the posterial cruciate is probably due to that accident. The plica is probably more due to that accident than anything because of the timing." [T 310, 320] In addition, the testimony was that Mr. McDougald was "predisposed" to his ACL injury because of the accident. [T 31 1] In other words, although the ACL was not torn in the accident, the "accident was a part of the reason" that it ultimately became torn. [T 322] Further, the "posterior cruciate ligament" and the "tear

in the posterial horn of the lateral meniscus are definitely -- are most probably due to the automobile accident." [T 3 19]

As a result of continued pain, Mr. McDougald had two additional **arthroscopies** performed by a second orthopedic surgeon, who concluded that Mr. McDougald suffered from a tear of the anterior cruciate ligament in his knee. [T 180] The second orthopedic surgeon additionally concluded that Mr. McDougald could expect to undergo multiple knee replacements in the future, and further surmised that Mr. McDougald sustained a permanent injury as a direct and proximate result of the incident in question. [T 79-80, 96-98, 326]

Prior to the incident, Mr. McDougald was very active physically and engaged in snow-skiing, water-skiing, and triathalons (i.e., run three miles, bike four miles, and swim one-quarter mile). [T 181-82, 21]] Following the accident, his knee continued to deteriorate, was unstable, and had frequent pain (which ultimately became constant). [T 182] His physical activities had become "very limited" because he lacked the "maneuverability" he formerly had. [T 188]

Prior to the incident he was also actively involved in big game hunting, an activity that he considered to be more than a mere hobby. [T 189-190] In the years before the accident, Mr. McDougald arranged hunting trips to Montana, Colorado, and Wyoming for various clients and friends. [T 194] Mr. McDougald chose the locale, scheduled the flights, arranged all accommodations, and also provided guide and consulting services while on the trips. [T 194-198] He considered his activities as a quasi-business. [T 195-196] He was described as the "Michael Jordan" of hunting -- a "hunter's hunter" whose knowledge and skills were a "cut above." [T 343-344, 355]

At first, these outings consisted of a way of paying for his own hunts, [T 195-196] Mr. McDougald, however, eventually planned to semi-retire from his employment in order to perform these services on a professional basis. [T 198] The incident curtailed his plans by limiting his ability to walk and hunt on rough terrain, and also by restricting his ability to conduct these hunting trips on as large a scale as he intended. [T 198] He testified that he "can't walk like" he used to and that its "not safe" for him to try to traverse games trails that can be "extremely tough" terrain. [T 199] Although described as still having "enthusiasm" for hunting, Mr. McDougald had physical limitations that, for example, required him to "stay close to the pickup truck" rather than to "be right there with you" during the hunt itself. [T 356] Due to these limitations, he ultimately closed down his guide business. [T 199]

Mr. McDougald testified as to his estimate of revenues he would have earned from his business once he had semi-retired. He considered his expenses, the expected number of hunters he would take out, and what the hunters would pay based upon prior agreements he had with outfitters. [T 203] Based upon these factors, Mr. McDougald estimated that he could earn approximately \$20,000.00 to \$25,000.00 per year. [T 213] This estimate did not include non-pecuniary benefits such as complimentary hunts he might receive. [T 213] He estimated that these free hunts had previously cost him between "five and six thousand dollars a year." [T 25 1]

The Trial Court Proceedings

On July 21, 1994, Mr. McDougald commenced the instant action seeking damages against C & S and Mr. Perry for their negligence in causing Mr. McDougald's injuries.* [R1 1-3] Mr.

² Mr. McDougald's former wife, Kay Mr. McDougald, previously had a claim for loss of consortium, which she voluntarily dismissed on April 22, 1996. [R2 219]

McDougald sought damages against C & S and Mr. Perry for past and future loss of earning capacity, for medical expenses, and for past and future pain and suffering.

The case proceeded to a jury trial, which took place on April 15-22, 1996. [T 1-680] At trial, the presiding judge gave the following negligence instructions to the jury:

The first issues for your determination on the claim of the plaintiff against the defendants are whether the defendant Henry D. Perry was negligent in the operation or maintenance of the vehicle, and whether C & S Chemicals, Inc. was negligent in its maintenance of the vehicle. And if so, whether such negligence was the legal cause of loss, injury, or damage sustained by the plaintiff.

Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care. Reasonable care is that degree of care which a reasonably careful person would use under like circumstances.

Negligence may consist either in doing something that a reasonably careful person would not do under like circumstances, or in failing to do something that a reasonably careful person would do under like circumstances.

. . .

Negligence is a legal cause of loss, injury or damage if it directly and in natural and continuous sequence produces or contributes substantially to producing such loss, injury or damage, so that it can reasonably be said that but for the negligence the loss, injury or damage would not have occurred.

If you find that the circumstances of the accident were such that in the ordinary course of events the accident would not have happened in the absence of negligence and that the instrumentality causing an injury was in the exclusive control of a defendant at the time it caused the injury, you may infer that defendants were negligent, unless taking into consideration all of the evidence in the case you conclude that the occurrence was not due to any negligence on the part of defendants.

[T 661-663]

Following their deliberations, the jury found in favor of Mr. McDougald, finding C & S 90% at fault and Mr. Perry 10% at fault for Mr, McDougald's injuries. [R2 3 19-321; T 677] The jury awarded Mr. McDougald \$5,000.00 for past loss of earning capacity, \$50,000.00 for

future medical expenses, \$45,000.00 for future loss of earning capacity, and \$150,000.00 for pain and suffering (\$25,000 for past, \$125,000 for future), for a total of \$250,000.00. [R2 319-321; T 678] The trial court entered a Final Judgment on June 12, 1996,

Mr. Perry and C & S subsequently appealed, [R2 331-332; R4 334-335, 336-338] Among other grounds, Mr. Perry and C & S alleged that the trial court erred by giving a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction to the jury. They also claimed error in the trial court's denial of their motion for directed verdicts on the issue of their negligence, as well as the lack of evidence to support the jury's award for Mr. McDougald's past and future loss of earning capacity.

The Second District's Opinion

On July 30, 1997, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the Final Judgment and remanded the case to the trial court with directions to direct a verdict in favor of Mr. Perry and C & S on the issue of their negligence. Perry v. McDougald, 698 So. 2d 1256, 1260 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). The Second District concluded that the trial court erred in giving the *res ipsa loquitur* instruction because "the facts in this case fail to support the inference that absent Perry's or C & S's negligence the chain would not have otherwise come loose." <u>Id.</u> The Second District also concluded that Mr. McDougald presented no evidence of negligence by Mr. Perry or C & S, stating that "[i]f the chain broke or stretched from too much stress, and this condition had not yet occurred during the daily inspections by C & S drivers, this would not be negligence on the part of Perry or C & S because there was no showing of a breach of due care in the inspection and maintenance of this chain and tire." <u>Id.</u> at 1259. In addition, the Second District — in dicta reversed the award of Mr. McDougald's past and future losses of earning capacity from his

hunting and guide referral business "because there is no expert or other competent evidence" to support such damages. <u>Id.</u> at 1260.

Pursuant to Rule 9.120, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, Mr. McDougald sought discretionary review of the Second District's decision. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Constitution of the State of Florida.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District erred in reversing the Final Judgment entered after the jury's verdict in favor of Mr. McDougald. Contrary to Second District's opinion, the doctrine of *res ipsa Zoquitur* is applicable in this case. Further, ample evidence existed, by inference or otherwise, of negligence on the part of Mr. Perry and C & S, and ample evidence existed as to the jury's award for past and future loss of earning capacity. For these reasons, this Court should reverse the Second District's decision and reinstate the Final Judgment.

In this "wayward wheel" case, the presiding judge was correct to instruct the jury as to the doctrine of *res ipsa Zoquitur*. Cases in Florida, as well as other jurisdictions, hold that this doctrine is particularly applicable in "wayward wheel" cases where the defendant has exclusive control over the instrumentality (i.e., car, truck, etc.) that caused the injury, and the incident would not have occurred in the ordinary course of events without negligence on the defendant's part. As one court stated: "Thousands of automobiles are using our streets, but no one expects the air to be filled with flying hubcaps," Likewise, the roadways of Florida are populated by hundreds of trucks and cars, but no one expects the air to be filled with flying spare tires. Under these circumstances, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* provides the fact finder with a common sense inference of negligence where, as here, direct proof of evidence may not be readily available. In light of the evidence presented at trial, the lower court properly instructed the jury as to the doctrine and properly denied a directed verdict for C & S and Mr. Perry,

Further, the unrebutted evidence regarding the dislodging of the 130 pound spare tire directly inferred negligence on the part of Mr. Perry and C & S, specifically as to the maintenance and operation of the tractor-trailer's spare tire holder and chain. Mr. Perry and C

& S, as the driver and lessor of the tractor-trailer respectively, had exclusive control over the tractor-trailer and its spare tire that dislodged and struck Mr. McDougald's vehicle. Mr. Perry had just crossed over "real rough" railroad tracks, which -- Mr. Perry knew from experience -- required that he drastically reduce his speed or else he would "hit the ceiling." The 130 pound spare tire was carried in an angled cradle, held there only by gravity and a twenty year-old dog-type chain wrapped once around the tire, clasped only with a nut and bolt. The original chain had a latch mechanism and lock that had broken off at some point and was replaced with the nut and bolt. An examination of the chain after the accident indicated that the nut and bolt had slipped through the link in the chain, raising an inference that the nut and bolt were too small for their intended use or that the chain was negligently maintained.

In addition, Mr. McDougald sustained a permanent injury as a direct and proximate result of the accident. Due to this permanent injury, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on the issue of Mr. McDougald's past and future loss of earning capacity. The testimony as to Mr. McDougald's hunting and guide business provided the jury with an adequate basis upon which to measure Mr. McDougald's prospective diminished earning capacity. As such, the jury's verdict as to Mr. McDougald's loss of future earning capacity should be affinmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR BECAUSE THE UNREBUTTED EVIDENCE AT TRIAL SHOWED THAT (1) C & S AND MR PERRY HAD EXCLUSIVE CONTROL OF THE INSTRUMENTALITY CAUSING THE ACCIDENT; AND (2) THE ACCIDENT WOULD NOT HAVE OCCURRED IN THE ORDINARY COURSE OF EVENTS WITHOUT NEGLIGENCE ON C & S'S OR MR. PERRY'S PART.

This "wayward wheel" case is a classic example of the type of circumstances warranting the application of the doctrine of *res ipsa Zoquitur*. As this Court recognized in <u>Goodvear Tire</u> & <u>Rubber Co. v. Hughes Supply, Inc.</u>, the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur:

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