IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Case No. 95,595

L.T. Case No.: 96-02758

On Discretionary Review Of The Decision Of The Second District Court of Appeal

LAWRENCE D. McDOUGALD,

Petitioner,

v.

HENRY D. PERRY and C&S CHEMICALS, INC.,

a foreign corporation, Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Douglas M. Fraley, Esq. Fraley and Fraley, P.A. Suite 1225
501 East Kennedy Blvd.
Tampa, Florida
(813)229-8300
Florida Bar No.: 654728

Margie I. Fraley, Esq. Post Office Box 130294 Tampa, Florida (813)229-8300 Florida Bar No.: 0655368

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals for the Second District correctly ruled McDougald did not prove that in the ordinary course of events, the accident would not have happened in the absence of negligence. Therefore, the lower court committed reversible error in giving a res ipsa loquitur instruction.

In an attempt to satisfy his burden of proof, McDougald argues the accident entailed a "wayward wheel." McDougald is trying to

benefit from case law which he argues holds that res ipsa loquitur applies to wayward wheel cases as a matter of law because in the ordinary course of events such wheels do not become loose absent negligent installation or maintenance. However, the wayward wheel cases uniformly entail wheels coming off the axles of vehicles. This crucial factual difference makes them inapposite because McDougald presented no evidence whatsoever that in the ordinary course of events, a spare tire under the instant set of facts does not come out of a cradle off the bottom of a truck in the absence of negligence. Quite to the contrary, as Perry and C&S explained and the Second District found, the incident could be due to reasons other than negligence, such as vandalism or debris on the road.

The Second District properly ordered the lower court to enter a directed verdict for Perry and C&S on negligence. McDougald did not introduce any evidence, expert or otherwise, on negligent maintenance or operation of the trailer, or attachment of the safety chain. McDougald merely proved an accident happened.

On past or future loss of earning capacity, the Second District rightly held there was not sufficient evidence to raise a jury question. McDougald's claim for future damages was based on expected lost profits of an anticipated hunting guide business without an established track record. The <u>only</u> evidence he introduced was his own unfounded estimate he could make between \$20,000 to \$25,000 a year as a guide. There was no evidence of past losses. Thus, McDougald simply failed to provide the jury with the requisite "yardstick" to measure his damages.

Finally, Perry and C&S argued four additional errors which the Second District did not consider but could support the Second District's decision or the granting of a new trial. The errors are as follows: the court wrongly gave a res ipsa loquitur instruction

because the facts concerning the accident were known, provable or discoverable; the court excluded highly relevant evidence that C&S and Perry's acts complied with industry custom; the court improperly allowed McDougald to read into evidence and to impeach its own medical witness from prior deposition testimony; and the court prohibited counsel from arguing on closing that McDougald was comparatively negligent for his injuries because of his actions after the accident.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT CORRECTLY RULED THE LOWER COURT MADE A REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GIVING THE JURY A RES IPSA LOQUITUR INSTRUCTION

In <u>Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co. v. Hughes Supply Inc.</u>, 358 So.2d 1339 (Fla. 1978), this Court reigned in the use of the resipsa loquitur instruction, stating the doctrine is of extremely limited applicability. <u>Id</u>. at 1341. Similarly, in <u>City of New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission v. McWhorter</u>, 418 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1982), this Court indicated that: "Given the restrictive nature of the doctrine, a court should never lightly provide this inference of negligence." <u>Id</u>. at 262.

A plaintiff has the burden to prove to the <u>court</u> three elements to avail himself of the inference: 1. direct evidence of defendant's negligence is unavailable; 2. the accident is one that would not, in the ordinary course of events, have occurred without defendant's negligence; and 3. the defendant was in exclusive control of the mechanism of the injury. <u>See</u>, <u>City of New Smyrna</u> and <u>Goodyear</u>. The Second District correctly recognized that at trial, McDougald failed to meet his burden of proving the second element.

In an attempt to satisfy this element, McDougald classifies

the accident at hand as a "wayward wheel" case. Yet, all the wayward wheel decisions which McDougald cites are factually distinguishable because they deal with wheels coming off axles of vehicles. In applying res ipsa loquitur to wayward wheels, these opinions hold that a wheel would not come off the axle of a vehicle in the absence of negligent maintenance or installation. In other words, wayward wheel cases satisfy the res ipsa loquitur requirement that in the ordinary course of events, the accident would not have happened without negligence. But the accident at hand did not concern a wheel coming off an axle but a spare tire leaving its cradle underneath the truck. Since the spare tire is installed, maintained, and affixed completely differently from an axle tire, the wayward wheel cases are irrelevant. As Perry and C&S suggested and the Second District found, the exiting of the subject tire could happen in the absence of negligence which precludes application of res ipsa loquitur.

The crux of the wayward wheel cases is the installation or maintenance of an axle wheel which is entirely different from the installation or maintenance of a spare wheel. Hence, the finding that a wayward wheel would not come off its axle in the absence of negligence simply cannot be transferred to the instant spare tire coming off its cradle. Not surprisingly, McDougald stays away from any reference to the basic difference between wayward wheel cases and the accident at hand. The dynamics of a wheel which is supporting a vehicle weighing thousands of pounds and revolving at significant speed as it travels down the road is in no way comparable to a spare tire cradled underneath a trailer. While a juror may have some exposure to and understanding of the importance

of tire pressure, lug-nuts, and the integrity of the rubber and rim of a wheel, this knowledge provides no help in understanding the proper procedures for installing and maintaining a spare tire in a cradle under the trailer of a semi-truck.

Taking McDougald's argument to its logical conclusion shows the error of labeling the instant case a wayward wheel case. Under McDougald's argument, every time an object comes off a vehicle -regardless of whether it is affixed, installed, or maintained like an axle wheel— res ipsa loquitur would be proper. The bottom line is that just because the object coming off Perry's vehicle happened to be a wheel does not make this a wayward wheel case.

Most of the Florida and foreign case law which McDougald cites date prior to this Court's <u>Goodyear</u> opinion and seem to embrace the expansive view of the doctrine which <u>Goodyear</u> rejects. Furthermore, the opinions which McDougald quotes are either not relevant to the second element or include the type of evidence on the issue which was not admitted in the instant matter.

McDougald's main argument is based on <u>Cheung v. Ryder Truck Rental, Inc.</u>, 595 So.2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), which appears to be the case upon which McDougald claims conflict jurisdiction. McDougald did not cite <u>Cheung</u> in its Answer Brief to the Second District and it is inapplicable to the issue at hand. In <u>Cheung</u>, the Fifth District reversed a summary judgment in defendant's favor. The standard of review for motions for summary judgment is

not the same as that involved in granting a directed verdict. More importantly, Cheung contains very few facts; and those facts discussed paint a distinguishable scenario. In Cheung, a wheel came off the axle of a vehicle the defendant was towing. Although not explicit in the opinion, Cheung is more concerned with the doctrine's "control" requirement. Cheung contains no analysis or citations regarding the second element of res ipsa loquitur that a plaintiff prove the accident would not normally happen in the absence of negligence.

Similarly, McDougald's discussion of Yarbrough v. Ball U-Drive System, Inc., 48 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1950), and Tamiami Trail Tours Inc., v. Locke, 75 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1954), is not helpful to him. First, these decisions deal mainly with "control." Neither case discusses or analyzes the doctrine's requirements pertinent to the matter at hand. In Yarbrough, this Court was concerned with whether a defendant-lessor was in "control" of a vehicle which another party drove in the accident. In Tamiami Trail, although the plaintiff's employee was operating the vehicle, this Court held the defendant was in control because he alone hooked up the equipment which caused the damage.

Following the progeny of these decisions is enlightening. In the cases citing <u>Tamiami Trail</u>, the courts hold the res ipsa loquitur instruction should not have been given because plaintiff had not excluded intervening forces as a cause of the mishap.

¹"A summary judgment should not be granted unless the facts are so crystallized that nothing remains but questions of law." Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985).

Wagner v. Associated Shower Door Co., 99 So.2d 619 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958); Brookshire v. Florida Bendix Co., 153 So.2d 55 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963).

Although numerous cases cite <u>Yarbrough</u>, they either deal with the "control" issue, contain no facts or analysis, or are eventually dispproved or quashed in <u>Goodyear</u>. <u>Goodyear</u> specifically disapproves of two district court cases which cite <u>Yarbrough</u> as controlling authority. <u>See</u>, <u>Auto Specialties Mfg. Co., v. Boutwell</u>, 335 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); and <u>Kulczynski v. Harrington</u>, 207 So.2d 505 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968).

The disapproval of <u>Auto Specialties</u> has minimal impact on the present matter since it dealt mostly with "control." However, in <u>Kulczynski</u> the question of control is a minor issue. In <u>Kulczynski</u>, plaintiff was injured by a ladder rack which swung out from the side of defendant's pick-up truck because one of the rack's supports became dislodged from the truck. <u>Kulczynski</u> approved the use of the res ipsa loquitur instruction under facts similar to the instant case. Therefore, this Court would likely disapprove using the instruction in the case at bar.

The foreign cases which McDougald cites are either factually or legally irrelevant to the matter at hand. Either these cases do not address the issue of proving the accident would not have happened in the absence of negligence or plaintiff submitted expert or other evidence on the issue. See, Hanson v. Dalton Coal & Materials Co., 264 S.W.2d 897, 900 (Mo. Ct. App. 1954)("A great volume of testimony was introduced as to what might cause [the

accident]... Experts testified [about proper maintenance]... One witness for plaintiff testified [proper maintenance had not been performed]."); Dearth v. Self, 220 N.E.2d 728 (Ohio Ct. App. 1966)(concerns application of doctrine to multiple defendants); Ross v. Tynes, 14 So.2d 80 (La. Ct. App. 1943)(there was "considerable testimony" that the cause of the accident resulted from improper maintenance to a "patchwork" vehicle); Wilson v. Spencer, 127 A.2d 840 (D.C. 1956)("there was no explanation by either plaintiff or defendant as to the cause of the hubcap becoming detached...")

Nowhere in the record or case law is there any proof that in the ordinary course of events a spare tire like the one at issue would not come out off its cradle breaking through the safety chain in the absence of negligence. Quite the opposite, Beverly adduced the only evidence in the light of past experience, Goodyear, 358 So.2d at 1342, when he testified he had never heard of a similar incident. Significantly, neither did McDougald who owns a trucking company.

As far as the record is concerned, the tire at hand could very well be the first and only one ever to exit its cradle. On what basis could anyone conclude that something which has <u>never</u> happened would only occur if someone, especially the lessee or operator of a tractor-trailer, were negligent? Since Perry and C&S only admitted they were responsible for the <u>maintenance</u> of the trailer, the court would have to conclude that this incident would usually not occur without negligent <u>maintenance</u>.

Unfortunately for McDougald, the second element of res ipsa loquitur is not easily met. Even in Marrero v. Goldsmith, 486 So.2d 530 (Fla. 1986), the most expansive application of the doctrine, the plaintiff "produced expert medical testimony that this type of injury is one that ordinarily does not occur in the absence of negligence..." Id. at 531. In the instant matter, as is obvious, there was no similar expert or other testimony.

In <u>Burns v. Otis Elevator Company</u>, 550 So.2d 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), the court, reversing a summary judgment in favor of the defendant because of the availability of the res ipsa loquitur doctrine, stated that "to prevail at trial, plaintiff must still present sufficient evidence, beyond that of the accident itself, from which the jury may infer that the accident would not have occurred but for the defendant's breach of due care." <u>Id</u>. at 22.

Although it perhaps does not need to be restated, there was no expert or other testimony or evidence that the failure of the safety chain and the spare tire's exit onto the roadway would not ordinarily occur in the absence of C&S and Perry's negligence. They cannot be presumed negligent because of the equipment when there was no evidence that either one of them placed the equipment on the trailer. As alleged in the Complaint and admitted in C&S, Perry and Ryder's Answer, Ryder owned the trailer and leased it to C&S. C&S and Perry only admitted they were responsible for the trailer's maintenance, not its original condition.

No court, without evidence about this particular field, could determine from a common sense point of view that the incident would

not have occurred in the absence of negligence much less from negligent maintenance. Imagining reasons other than negligent maintenance which could have caused this incident is not difficult. An attempted theft of the spare tire or simply vandalism could have weakened the chain. Perhaps the force of the tire bouncing in the cradle while traveling over unusually rough railroad tracks produced a force on the chain which no one could reasonably expect or protect against. It is also conceivable the chain itself, which Perry and C&S did not place on the trailer, was flawed or that some road debris which the tractor-trailer encountered after it left Melbourne affected the chain's integrity.

Interestingly, the court in <u>Phillips Buick-Pontiac-GMC</u>, Inc., <u>v. Dallon</u>, 602 So.2d 594 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), advances these final two possibilities to explain why the trial court properly denied a res ipsa loquitur instruction. In <u>Phillips</u>, a child was run over by a car due to a faulty transmission. The parents sued the seller of the vehicle alleging that while replacing an engine in the vehicle its mechanic negligently dislocated a cable which affected the transmission. Expert testimony supported this theory.

The trial court rejected the res ipsa loquitur instruction but after a defense verdict granted plaintiffs a new trial because of that ruling. The district court reversed, finding that the instruction was properly refused because the plaintiffs failed to meet the second element.

The appellate court noted that the dislocation of a transmission cable could have occurred "as a result of original

equipment design defect... or could have been dislocated by road hazards... or in diverse other ways..." Phillips, 602 So.2d at 595. Similarly, it would be improper for the instant trial court to infer, from no evidence but the occurrence itself, that the safety chain would not have "dislocated" in the absence of negligence. In Phillips, the plaintiff even supported his theory with expert testimony, absent in the case at bar.

Under the case law, McDougald had the burden to prove the accident would not have happened in the absence of negligence. As the record unequivocally establishes, he failed to meet his burden which precludes application of res ipsa loquitur.

II. RES IPSA LOQUITUR WAS NOT APPLICABLE BECAUSE THERE WAS DIRECT EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE

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